1989

Klatt v. Thomas : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the lower court err in determining that Jackson, LaGant and Willie were vendors of the golf course and, therefore, were not liable as a matter of law for defects in their design or construction of the golf course which existed as of the date of its sale to Southgate?

2. Did the lower court err in dismissing the action against Jackson, LaGant and Willie as being time barred under the statute of limitations, when said individuals had failed to properly raise the defense of the statute of limitations as required under Rules 9(h) and 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure?

3. Is Section 78-12-25.5 as applied in this case unconstitutional under Article I, Section 11 of the Constitution of Utah?

4. Is Section 78-12-25.5 as applied in this case unconstitutional under Article I, Section 24 of the Constitution of Utah or unconstitutional as a denial of equal protection under Amendment 14 of the Constitution of the United States of America?

5. Did the lower court err in determining that there is no genuine issue of material fact as to whether Southgate knew or should have known of any defect in the subject golf course?

6. Did the lower court err in determining that there was no genuine issue of material fact as to Southgate's negligence as to any of the other particulars alleged in the Second Amended Complaint?

TEXT OF AUTHORITIES

1. In pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively accord and satisfaction, arbitration and award, assumption of risk, contributory negligence, discharge and bankruptcy, duress, estoppel, failure of consideration, fraud, illegality, injury by fellow servant, laches, license, payment, release, res judicata, statute of frauds, statute of limitations, waiver, and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense.

Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c).

2. In pleading the statute of limitations it is not necessary to state the facts showing the defense but it may be alleged generally that the cause of action is barred by the provisions of the statute relied on, referring to or describing such statutes specifically and definitely by section number, subsection designation, if any, or otherwise designating the provision relied upon sufficiently clearly to identify it.

Utah R. Civ. P. 9(h).

3. A party waives all defenses and objections which he does not present either by motion as hereinbefore provided or, if he has made no motion, in his answer or reply, except (1) that the defense of failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, the defense of failure to join an indispensable party, and the objection of failure to state legal defense to a claim may also be made by a later pleading, if one is permitted, or by motion for judgment on the pleadings or at the trial on the merits and except (2) that, whenever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject-matter, the court shall dismiss the action.

Utah R. Civ. P. 12(h).

4. (1) (a) An action to recover damages for any injury to property, real or personal, or for any injury to the person, or for bodily injury or wrongful death, arising out of the defective and unsafe condition of an improvement to real property, or any action for damages sustained on account of the injury, may not be brought against any person performing or furnishing the design, planning, surveying, supervising the construction of, or constructing the improvement to real property more than seven years after the completion of construction.

(2) The time limitation imposed by this section does not apply to any person in actual possession and control as owner, tenant, or otherwise, of the improvement at the time the defective and unsafe condition of the improvement constitutes the proximate cause of the injury for which an action is brought.

(3) This section does not extend or limit the periods otherwise prescribed by state law for the bringing of any action.

(4) As used in this section:

(a) "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, or other legal entity.

(b) "Completion of construction" means the date of issuance of a certificate of substantial completion by the owner, architect, engineer, or other agent, or the date of the owner's use or possession of the improvement on real property.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-25.5 (Supp. 1989).

5. All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.

Utah Const. art I, § 11.

6. "All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation." Utah Const. art I, § 24.

7. All persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and of the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

U.S. Const. amend XIV, § 1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 5, 1986, while golfing at Southgate Golf Course in St. George, Utah, Plaintiff was struck in the face and personally

injured by an errant golf ball hit by Defendant Ike Thomas (hereinafter "Thomas"). Second Amended Complaint ¶ 10. (R. vol. I, pp. 302-03; Addendum [hereinafter "A."] 2-3).

Plaintiff brought this action against Thomas claiming he was negligent in causing the ball to strike Plaintiff. Further, Plaintiff alleged that Defendant Southgate Golf Course (hereinafter "Southgate"), the owner and operator of the golf course where the incident occurred, was negligent in failing to erect an appropriate barrier that would have prevented the ball from striking Plaintiff, in failing to warn Plaintiff and other golf course patrons of the danger posed by the configuration of the golf course and for failing to take other appropriate precautions for the safety of Plaintiff and others. Finally, Plaintiff named the previous owner and operator of the golf course, Lava Hills Resort Corporation (hereinafter "Lava Hills") and Rex Jackson, John LaGant and John Willie (hereinafter, respectively, "Jackson," "LaGant," and "Willie"), three former shareholders and principals of Lava Hills, who performed or participated in the design and construction of the golf course. Id., ¶¶ 12-15 (R. vol. I, pp. 303-04; A. 3-4).

Plaintiff claimed that Lava Hills and Jackson, LaGant and Willie were negligent in failing to safely design the golf course to prevent injury to Plaintiff and others, that they were negligent in failing to safely construct the golf course so as to prevent injury to Plaintiff and others and, finally that they were negligent in failing to inform Southgate and any other

successors in interest of any latent defects they knew or should have known existed at the golf course that could cause injury to Plaintiff and others. Id., ¶¶ 16-17 (R. vol. I, p. 304; A. 4).

Plaintiff settled her claims against Thomas and, therefore, he is not a party to this appeal. Furthermore, Lava Hills has been dissolved and, therefore, is not an active party to this action or this appeal. Summary Judgment dated March 22, 1989, ¶¶ 5-6 (R. vol. II, pp. 276-66; A. 64-65).

On January 30, 1989, after hearing oral argument, the district court entered Summary Judgment in favor of Jackson on the grounds that Jackson was a vendor of the golf course and was not subject to liability as of the date the vendee, Southgate, took possession of it. Summary Judgment dated January 30, 1989 (R. vol. II, pp. 215-16; A. 55-56); Order Granting Defendant Rex Jackson's Motion for Summary Judgment; Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law (hereinafter "Findings"), Conclusions of Law, ¶¶ 1-3 (R. vol. II, pp. 212-13; A. 52-53).

On March 22, 1989, after hearing oral argument, the district court denied a Motion to Vacate the Summary Judgment in favor of Jackson on the additional ground that said action was not timely under the statute of limitations and further granted Summary Judgment in favor of LaGant and Willie on the same grounds. Also, the Court granted Summary Judgment in favor of Southgate on the grounds that Plaintiff had failed to demonstrate that Southgate knew or should have known of any defect in the golf course and was negligent. Conclusions of Law Underlying Summary Judgment (R. vol. II, pp. 270-73; A. 58-61).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 5, 1986, Plaintiff was golfing at Southgate Golf Course in St. George, Utah. At approximately 12:15 p.m. that day she was standing on the tee-box of the 15th hole of the golf course waiting her turn to make her first shot from the tee. While standing in that area, Thomas, who was making his first shot from the tee area of the 14th hole, caused the ball to deviate from its straight path and fly to the right (slice) and strike Plaintiff in the face where she was standing. The tee boxes of the 14th and 15th holes were designed and constructed such that Plaintiff would have been standing approximately 50 to 75 yards in front of and to the right of where Thomas struck the ball. Second Amended Complaint ¶¶ 8-10 (R. vol. I, pp. 302; A. 2); Findings ¶ 1 (R. vol. II, pp. 209-10; A. 49-50).

At the time of the accident, the golf course was owned and operated by Southgate. Southgate had purchased the golf course some 11 months earlier from Lava Hills. Second Amended Complaint, ¶ 8 (R. vol. I, p. 302; A. 2); Findings, ¶¶ 2-3 (R. vol. II, pp. 209-210; A. 49-50).

After taking possession of the golf course, but prior to the accident that is the subject of this action, Southgate redesigned and modified the 14th hole of the golf course by moving the green, some 130 feet closer to the tee and to the left of the previous green location. Southgate made no change to the design of the 15th hole. Second Amended Complaint ¶ 9 (R. vol. I, p. 302; A. 2); Findings, ¶ 5 (R. vol. II, 210; A. 50).

Jackson, LaGant and Willie were involved in the initial design and construction of the golf course in the spring and summer of 1975. Willie was the primary designer of the course, with the assistance of LaGant. In its original design, it was intended that there would be a natural barrier (trees) between the 14th and 15th tees. Jackson, who supervised the actual construction of the golf course, failed to install the trees. Affidavit of John Willie (hereinafter "Willie Affidavit") ¶¶ 5-6, 8-9, 12-14 (R. vol. I, pp. 260-61; A. 14-15).

After designing and constructing the golf course, Jackson, LaGant and Willie all eventually ceased active association with its operation. After construction was completed, Jackson and Willie maintained only a shareholder's interest in Lava Hills until the golf course was sold to Southgate. LaGant sold his entire interest in December 1984, prior to the sale. Willie Affidavit ¶ 4 (R. vol. I, p. 260; A. 14); Affidavit of Rex Jackson, ¶ 3 (R. vol. I, p. 216; A. 20); Affidavit of John LaGant ¶ 4 (R. vol. II, p. 75; A. 11).

Plaintiff's expert, David Rainville, a golf course architect from Orange County, California, has expressed his opinion, by affidavit, that the golf course was defective in design and construction in that there was no natural or artificial barrier between the 14th and 15th holes. He stated that such defective condition still existed on April 5, 1986, after the modifications by Southgate. Affidavit of David A. Rainville ¶ 11 & Exhibit L (R. vol. I, pp. 116-117, 131; A. 33, 38-39).

Two principals of Southgate, Richard Schmutz and William Atkin, by affidavit in support of their Motion for Summary Judgment, first state that there is no defect in the design or construction of the golf course. Then, both state that both the layout and the proximity and location of the two tee boxes was patent and easily observable by any patron of the golf course, including Plaintiff. Finally, in its Findings of Fact in Support of the Summary Judgment in Favor of Jackson, the Court finds that if there is a defect in the course, "such defect could have been discovered by Defendant Southgate through such an inspection as would be made in the exercise of ordinary care and prudence, and Defendant Southgate had a reasonable time to discover and remedy any such defect or dangerous condition prior to the occurrence of Plaintiff's accident." Affidavit of Richard Schmutz in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "Schmutz Affidavit"), ¶¶ 8-9 (R. vol. I, p. 81; A. 25); Affidavit of William Atkin in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment (hereinafter "Atkin Affidavit" ¶¶ 7-8) (Supplemental Record; A. 29).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: Jackson, LaGant and Willie are, or should be excepted from the rule stated in Preston v. Golden. They are not vendors, they are commercial developers, and they performed the actual construction of the course. Further, they should remain liable at least a reasonable time after the sale. Such reasonable time is a genuine issue of material fact.

POINT II: Jackson, LaGant and Willie have not properly raised the defense of the statute of limitations under Rules 8(c) and 9(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Consequently, such a defense is waived under Rule 12(h) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

POINT III: Assuming Jackson, LaGant or Willie have properly raised the statute of limitations defense, Section 78-12-25.5 is unconstitutional under the Open Courts Provision of the Utah Constitution. Based upon the reasoning in Berry ex rel Berry v. Beech Aircraft Corp., there is not a reasonable justification for denying Plaintiff and others similarly situated from a remedy against the persons who may have created the defects in the golf course that ultimately caused her injury.

POINT IV: Section 75-12-25.5 is an unconstitutional denial of equal protection as applied to Plaintiff and others similarly situated in her class under Article I Section 24 of the Utah Constitution and Amendment 14 of the United States Constitution. Under the doctrine set forth in Malan v. Lewis and Condemarin v. University of Utah, there is no justifiable or reasonable basis for denying Plaintiff and the other persons similarly situated from bringing a cause of action because the wrongful conduct giving rise to the cause of action occurred more than seven years prior to the injury.

POINT V: The Affidavits of Richard Schmutz and William Atkin, along with the Finding of Fact in connection with the Summary Judgment in favor of Jackson and the Affidavit of

Plaintiff's expert, all raise a genuine issue of material fact as to whether there was a latent defect in the golf course, which caused injury to Plaintiff, and whether Southgate knew or should have known such defect existed.

POINT VI: Even assuming the lower court was correct in determining, as a matter of law, that any defect in the golf course was latent, there is still a question of fact regarding whether Southgate was negligent in creating the defect. Plaintiff's expert has testified that the golf course as actually modified by Southgate, was still defective in its design and construction. Therefore, there is still an issue of fact as to whether Southgate was affirmatively negligent in its design and/or construction of the modification of the 14th hole.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

PRESTON V. GOLDMAN, IF APPLICABLE, IS DISTINGUISHABLE FROM THIS CASE

The Court below determined that under the case of Preston v. Goldman, 42 Cal. 3d 108, 720 P.2d 476 (1986), Jackson, LaGant and Willie, as vendors of the golf course in May of 1985, were not liable for any defects in the design and/or construction of the course from the date Southgate took over possession and control of it after its purchase of the golf course.

In Preston, a child was severely injured from a near drowning in a pond constructed on certain residential property. The

child's father brought a lawsuit against both the present owners of the property and the previous owners who had designed and constructed the pond. After trial, the lower court entered judgment on a special verdict in favor of all defendants. On appeal to the California Court of Appeals, plaintiff argued that the court had failed to properly instruct the jury on the basis for liability of the previous owner. The California Court of Appeals reversed upon that basis, but the California Supreme Court reversed the Court of Appeals, holding that liability in a landowner liability case was predicated on ownership and control of the property regardless of whether the previous owner had created a dangerous condition.

The California court made a number of exceptions to its holding. First, the California court stated: "Our holding here relates only to the liability of 'do-it-yourself' home improvers and is not intended to effect, establish, or diminish any liability of commercial builders, contractors or renovators." Id. 720 P.2d at 487 n.10.

Second, the court recognized that when the prior landowner was the contractor or builder of the entire property, there are different rules that apply that may hold such professional developer/owner liable even after he has sold the property. Id., 720 P.2d at 481 n.3.

Finally, the California court discussed, but rejected, an exception that would permit a previous landowner's liability to continue even after the date of purchase until a subsequent

landowner could reasonably discover a hazardous defect in the property and take appropriate precautions to remedy it, especially if the previous landowner had created the condition. Id. 720 P.2d at 478 n.2, 480.

The facts of the instant case fall under all of the exceptions outlined in Preston. Furthermore, because of Utah law regarding latent defects, this Court should not follow Preston or, at least should adopt the third exception rejected by Preston.

A. Commercial Builders Contractors or Renovators

In the first exception, the Preston court specifically excludes from its holding any effect upon the liability of "commercial builders, contractors or renovators." Id., 720 P.2d at 487 n.10. It appears that the reason for this exception would be to discourage a contractor or builder from substandard performance when he knows that after his work is completed the property will be conveyed to a new owner and the contractor or builder would be insulated from liability. The California court instead limits its holding to improvements made by "do-it-yourselfers." In other words, one must actually have owned the property when the improvements were made, made the improvements himself and then sold it to a third party prior to the injury in order to be insulated from liability under Preston.

In this case, Lava Hills was the owner of the golf course at the time it was initially designed and constructed and at the time it was sold to Southgate. Although Jackson, LaGant and

Willie were officers and shareholders of Lava Hills at various times, they were never, as individuals, owners. Indeed, LaGant apparently did not even have an equity interest in Lava Hills at the time the golf course was sold to Southgate. Also, both Jackson and Willie, although they apparently still held stock in Lava Hills, no longer had any supervisory control over that corporation. Thus, it appears that only Lava Hills might possibly be excepted from liability under the Preston rule.

B. Owner/Developer

Even assuming that Jackson, LaGant and Willie were the vendors of the golf course at the time it was sold to Southgate, the second exception under Preston applies because they were owners/developers who, previous to conveying the golf course to Southgate, had fully designed, constructed and developed the property. Under this exception, more emphasis is placed upon the landowner's role as the creator of the dangerous condition and he is found to be liable despite his subsequent sale of the property.

This Court apparently applied this exception in Loveland v. Orem City Corp., 746 P.2d 763 (Utah 1987). There, the purchasers of a home brought an action against the city, the irrigation company and the developer of the subdivision for failing to design and construct a fence or other barrier over a canal in which the plaintiffs' child drowned shortly after the plaintiffs purchased the property from the developer's successor in interest, Jacor. The lower court granted summary judgment in

favor of all defendants and this Court affirmed, holding, inter alia, that the developer had no duty to disclose any dangers in the canal to Jacor or plaintiffs. This Court based its decision upon Section 352 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts, which was the primary basis for the Preston decision. This Court then stated:

The Lovelands contend that they did not sue Brown Brothers in its capacity as a vendor of lot sixteen, but rather as the developer of the property. Brown Brothers, without authority, claims that this distinction is of no legal consequence. We disagree. Although there has been no wholesale importation of the principal underlying products liability into the real estate context, some exceptions have arisen where the prior landowner was a professional developer.

Id. at 768 (citing Preston v. Goldman, 42 Cal. 3d 108, 117 n.3, 720 P.2d 476, 481 n.3 (1986)).

Although this case did not involve the development of a subdivision as in Loveland, since Jackson, LaGant and Willie developed the property, the same exception outlined in Preston and Loveland should apply to them despite Plaintiff's lack of privity with them.

Before leaving Loveland, this Court should note two other exceptions to the vendor non-liability rule touched upon in Preston and discussed at some length in Loveland. Those exceptions, set forth in Section 353 of the Restatement (Second) of Torts are set forth in Loveland as follows:

The first exception involves a vendor's duty to disclose to the vendee any concealed conditions known to the vendor which involve an unreasonable danger. The second exception is that a vendor owes a duty for a reasonable time to those outside the land who are

injured after the sale by a dangerous condition on the land.

Loveland, 746 P.2d at 768 (emphasis in original) (footnotes omitted) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 353, 373 (1965)).

Regarding the first Loveland exception, there is at least an issue of fact (although admittedly none of the parties have presented affidavits or other sworn testimony addressing this issue, Plaintiff has raised it as an allegation in her Complaint) as to whether Jackson, LaGant and/or Willie failed to properly disclose a concealed defect in the golf course to Southgate at the time of sale.

C. Reasonably Extended Liability

The second exception in Loveland is similar to the third exception that was rejected in Preston; that is, that the vendor should continue to be liable to third parties who come onto the land until the vendee has had a reasonable time to discover and correct the dangerous condition. This exception has been supported in Cogliati v. Ecco High Frequency Corp., 92 N.J. 402, 456 A.2d 524, 531 (1983). The New York Supreme Court has carried this exception a step further by determining that there is always liability to a prior owner who commits affirmative acts of negligence by creating the dangerous condition. Merrick v. Murphy, 83 Misc. 2d 39, 371 N.Y.S.2d 97, 100 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1975).

In the instant case, there is clearly an issue of fact as to whether a reasonable time has passed to enable Southgate to

correct any defect created by Jackson, LaGant and/or Willie. Further, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Jackson, LaGant and/or Willie created the dangerous condition, if this Court were to adopt the New York rule under Merrick.

As will be explained in Point V, and based upon the lower Court's ruling to that effect, Southgate is not liable for any defect or dangerous condition that it neither knew nor should have known existed at the golf course at the time Southgate took possession and control of it. Consequently, unless Plaintiff were allowed to maintain a cause of action against the persons who actually created the dangerous condition, in spite of their vendor status, she would be effectively denied a remedy.

Because the facts of this case fall under one or more of the exceptions outlined in Preston, which have been or should be followed by this Court, Plaintiff should be entitled to maintain her claim against Jackson, LaGant and Willie, despite their possible status as vendors.

POINT II

BECAUSE JACKSON, WILLIE AND LAGANT HAVE FAILED TO
PROPERLY RAISE THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS IN THEIR
ANSWERS, SUCH DEFENSE IS WAIVED

Rule 8(c) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the affirmative defense of statute of limitations must be raised in the responsive pleading, in this case, the answer. Utah R. Civ. P. 8(c). Further, Rule 9(h) states that the defense of statute of limitation must be raised with some particularity by

specifying the particular section, subsection and/or particular provision relied upon. Id., 9(h).

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