1989

## Klatt v. Thomas : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

I. Southgate filed a specific motion for summary judgment with supporting affidavits and memorandum containing a statement of facts. The Plaintiff failed to contest the statement of facts in the memorandum in support of motion for summary judgment and failed to file any affidavits to indicate that Southgate knew or should have known that the golf course was defective.

II. Southgate is not an insurer of the safety of patrons on its premises and can not be held liable absent evidence of negligence in that it knew or should have known of the alleged defect.

III. Southgate did not design the golf course and did not create or enhance the alleged defect.

IV. The uncontroverted facts show that Southgate did not have any actual knowledge of an alleged defect.

V. The uncontroverted facts show that Southgate had no reason to know or suspect an alleged defect.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE FACTS SUPPORTING SOUTHGATE'S MOTION  
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ARE UNCONTESTED

On December 20, 1988, Respondent, Southgate Golf Course (hereinafter "Southgate") filed a Motion for Summary Judgment with Supporting Memorandum and Affidavits of William Atkin and Richard Schmutz. On January 4, 1989, after the Plaintiff failed to respond in any manner to Southgate's Motion for Summary Judgment with its Supporting Affidavits and Memorandum, Southgate submitted a request for ruling on its motion. To date, the Plaintiff has failed to file any response or Counter-Affidavits to the Plaintiff's motion. Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides in pertinent part:

When a Motion for Summary Judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, his response, by Affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, Summary Judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.

This Court has recognized and enforced the clear language of this rule many times. Busch Corporation vs. State Farm Fire & Casualty Company 743 P2d 1217 (Utah 1987); Treloggan vs. Treloggan, 699 P2d 747 (Utah 1985); Reagan Outdoor

Advertising, Inc. vs. Lundgren, 692 P2d 776 (Utah 1984); Cowen and Company vs. Atlas Stock Transfer Company, 695 P2d 109 (Utah 1984); Franklin Financial vs. New Empire Development Company, 659 P2d 1040. The application of Rule 56(e) was clearly explained in Franklin, supra, as follows:

Thus, when a party opposes a properly supported Motion for Summary Judgment and fails to file any responsive Affidavits or other evidentiary materials allowed by Rule 56(e), the trial court may properly conclude that there are no genuine issues of fact unless the face of the movent's Affidavit affirmatively discloses the existence of such an issue. Without such a showing, the Court need only decide whether, on the basis of the applicable law, the moving party is entitled to a judgment. [Citations omitted] Id at 1044.

At the time Southgate filed it's Motion for Summary Judgment, the new Utah Code of Judicial Administration was in affect. Rule 4-501(5) adds further support to the authorities cited above. Points and authorities in support of a motion for summary judgment must contain a concise statement of material facts as to which the movants contend no genuine issue exists. The points and authorities in opposition to a Motion for Summary Judgment must refute those facts or the "movant's statement shall be deemed admitted for the purpose of summary judgement." Here, Southgate filed a memorandum of points and authorities in support of it's motion for summary judgment. The memorandum contained a

concise statment of facts. Those facts were never controverted, objected to or otherwise responded to and must be deemed admitted for purposes of summary judgment.

In her brief, Appellant now attempts to claim genuine issues of material fact exist as to whether Southgate created, knew or should have known about a defect or dangerous condition on the golf course. However, the uncontroverted facts clearly establish that Southgate did not design the course, did not know about a defect and had no reason to suspect a defect. This Court has repeatedly recognized the basic principle that matters not presented to the trial court may not be raised for the first time on appeal. Franklin Financial vs. New Empire Development Company, supra; Shayne vs. Stanley & Son's, Inc., 605 P2d 775 (Utah 1980); Edgar vs. Wagner, 572 P2d 405 (Utah 1977).

Although the court did allow oral argument, Plaintiff failed to submit any evidence to show that Southgate knew or should have known of the alleged defect. Based upon the record before it, the trial court properly held that there were no issues of fact indispute and that Southgate was entitled to Summay Judgment.

#### POINT II

SOUTHGATE IS NOT LIABLE TO PLAINTIFF ABSENT  
EVIDENCE OF NEGLIGENCE.

The mere fact that misfortune occurred does not necessarily mean that someone else must respond in damages. Eaton vs. Savage, 502 P2 564 (Utah 1972). Furthermore, the mere fact that the unfortunate accident occurred on the premises of the Defendant which resulted in injuries to the Plaintiff is insufficient to establish liability on the part of the property owner. Pollick vs. J. C. Penney Co., 473 P2d 394 (Utah 1970). It is elementary that a business invitor is not liable to its business invitees unless it is negligent and its negligence is the proximate cause of the accident. Howard vs. Auerbach Co., 20 Utah 2d 355, 437 P2d 395 (1968).

In Koer vs. Mayfair Markets, 19 Utah 2d 339, 431 P2d 566 (1967), a customer slipped and fell on a grape inside a store. The customer alleged that the store manager had passed by the spot where the accident occurred just prior to the accident, and therefore, either had actual notice or constructive notice of this potentially dangerous condition and should have removed it. The Supreme Court affirmed a judgment for the Defendants notwithstanding the verdict. Negligence could not lie against the store unless it created the dangerous condition or had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition.

Likewise, Southgate cannot be held liable to Plaintiff without evidence it created a dangerous condition or had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition.

### POINT III

#### SOUTHGATE DID NOT CREATE THE ALLEGED DEFECT.

The uncontroverted facts below clearly indicate that Southgate did not design or construct the golf course where the accident occurred. In her brief, the Appellant correctly recognizes that the golf course had been designed, developed and constructed by the Co-Defendants, Lava Hills Resort Corporation, Rex Jackson, John LaGant and John Willey. Second Amended Complaint paragraph 16. (R. vol. I pp. 304;)

If, arguendo, there was a defective and dangerous condition in the golf course, it was created by the original builder and/or designer. The undisputed facts indicate that the tee area from which the golf ball was hit and the tee area upon which the Plaintiff was standing had not been in any way altered by Southgate. The only slight modification moved the fourteenth green area so that the line of play of Mr. Thomas was further away from the tee area where the Plaintiff was standing. Plaintiff did not dispute that this slight modification made the course more safe. Memorandum of points and authorities in support of Southgate's motion for summary judgment facts 2 and 4

(R. vol II, p. 99; A37) Affidavit of Richard Schmutz, paragraph 4 (R. vol I, pp. 80).

If the course as originally designed by John Willey or as originally constructed by Rex Jackson, contained a design defect, no liability can attach to Southgate solely as a result of the negligence of others.

#### POINT IV

SOUTHGATE DID NOT HAVE ANY ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE  
OF AN ALLEGED DEFECT.

It is also undisputed that Southgate had no knowledge that there was a dangerous or defective condition in the golf course. The uncontroverted facts in Southgate's motion for summary judgment established a lack of knowledge on behalf of Southgate. Memorandum of points and authorities in support of Southgate's motion for summary judgment (R. vol II, p. 99; A37) and affidavits of Richard Schmutz and William Atkin (R. Vol. I p. 80; A12). No liability can be attached to Southgate on a theory that it knew of a defect in the golf course.

#### POINT V

SOUTHGATE HAD NO REASON TO KNOW OF THE ALLEGED DEFECT.

First, as indicated above, the uncontroverted statement of facts in Southgate's memorandum of points and authorities in support of its motion for summary judgment indicate that Southgate owned the golf course for eleven months prior to the incident described in Plaintiff's complaint. During that time, thousands of patrons played the course and Southgate had no complaints, accidents "or other reason to believe that the course was defective." Memorandum of points and authorities in support of Southgate's motion for summary judgment, Statement of fact number 6 (R. vol II, pp. 100) and affidavit of Richard Schmutz, paragraphs 5, 6 and 7 (R. vol. I pp. 80-81). No objection was raised to the affidavit of Richard Schmutz or to the statement of facts and the trial court was correct in relying thereon in ruling and granting summary judgment.

Secondly, negligence cannot be inferred or assumed. Plaintiff must present facts in response to a well supported motion for summary judgment showing a degree of negligence on the part of the Defendant. The Plaintiff has completely failed to show any degree of negligence on behalf of Southgate.

The uncontradicted evidence indicates that even prior to the sale of the golf course to Southgate, for over ten years thousands of rounds of golf had been played without any incident or problem involving the unaltered fourteenth or fifteenth tee

areas. Affidavit of Richard Schmutz paragraphs 5-7 (R. vol. I pg. 80-81). Affidavit of Rex Jackson paragraph 11 (R. vol. I pg. 217; A.9).

The uncontroverted evidence also shows that no agents of Southgate were experts in the design and layout of golf courses. If there was a defect in the golf course, it was a design defect only recognizable to a trained architect. Although the law places a duty upon a property owner to inspect the premises for dangerous conditions, the law has never placed upon a land owner a duty to have his property inspected by an architect absent a reason to believe that there may be a defect. The law should not impose such a heavy onus upon land owners. To do so would expand the area of premises liability to an enormous extent. If a land owner must have his property inspected by an architect to avoid future potential liability, the result will open Pandora's Box in the area of premises liability. It is difficult to draw a distinction between other experts such as structural engineers, soils engineers, hydro specialists, etc. and such a ruling will in effect create strict liability for property owners.

The fact that Southgate did not have any reason to suspect a defect indicates that the defect was latent. Although the layout of the golf course was open and obvious, the defect,

if any, required the recognition of a trained golf course architect. Even in her brief, Appellant acknowledges that the defect was latent. (Page 6 line 1, page 13 line 7, page 15 line 3rd from bottom, page 16 line 11)

This situation is analogous to a defective truss in the roof of a structure. The truss could be openly observable to all individuals that enter the structure including the owner of the property. However, only a trained engineer would be able to calculate the stress of the loads placed upon the truss and the strength of the material, etc., to determine that the truss should be constructed of 2" x 8" beams instead of 2" x 4" planks. Although the layout of the truss is open, the defect is latent to a reasonable home owner. Certainly, the law should not place a burden upon a home owner to retain experts to review truss loads, foundation adequacy, beam strengths, joist adequacy, etc. Absent a reason to expect a problem, the reasonable property owner assumes the property has been adequately designed.

Here, the uncontroverted evidence indicates that the fifteenth tee is not in the line of play of patrons playing the fourteenth hole. At the time of Plaintiff's accident, the fifteenth tee center was approximately 253 feet to the Northeast of the fourteenth tee. The fifteenth tee was approximately 160 feet to the right of the line of play of the fourteenth hole.

The fifteenth tee was approximately 40 degrees to the right of the line of play of the fourteenth hole. Affidavit of Richard Schmutz paragraph 7 (R. vol. I pg. 81).

Naturally, golf courses are laid out in such a way that when a golfer finishes playing a hole, the next tee area should be in the general proximity of the green just completed. Certainly, a property owner would have no reason to suspect a problem with a tee area 40 degrees to the right of the line of fire and 253 feet away. Although a golf course architect may second guess this design, an owner would not be on notice of any alleged defect. This is especially true on a 3-par hole of less than 125 yards and an adjacent tee area approximately 160 feet away from the direction of play at a 40 degree angle.